RECEIVED

Jun 16 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Tracking No.: 2024-001803

Case No.: 2023-CP-10-05002

City of North Charleston,

Respondent,

v.

Harold Simmons,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Thomas R. Goldstein
Belk, Cobb, Infinger & Goldstein, P.A.
P. O. Box 71121
N. Charleston, S. C. 29415-1121
(843) 729 0928
tgoldstein@cobbblaw.net
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

Statement of Issues on Appeal

Can a Municipal Court sentence a defendant to 30 days incarceration after the maximum suspended sentence has expired under § 17-25-110, S. C. Code Ann.

Can a Municipal Court sentence a defendant to 30 days incarceration for allegedly violating an oral Order without providing notice of the alleged violation?

Can a Municipal Court sentence a defendant to 30 days incarceration for allegedly violating an oral order when the alleged violation occurred outside of Court?

Can a Municipal Court sentence a defendant to 30 days incarceration for allegedly violating an Oral Order without proof beyond a reasonable doubt?

Did the circuit court have a reasonable opportunity to evaluate the appeal when the Municipal Court failed to provide any evidence in support of its conclusion other than a 2-page summary, and did the Municipal Court's failure to transmit the evidence on which the 2-page November 13, 2023 "Return" deprive the appellant of meaningful judicial review?

Did the circuit court err in failing to evaluate newly discovered evidence that casts doubt on the City's prosecution of appellant?

Statement of Case

Harold Simmons operates an automobile repair garage at 3042 North Carolina Avenue in the City of North Charleston. (R.O.A. pages 76, 77 [photo of building]) The building at 3042 has

been used as a garage prior to North Charleston being incorporated. In 2023, the City of North Charleston issued 15 municipal citations against Harold Simmons, alleging that his garage is a nuisance because of “inoperable” vehicles parked on his property and on the public street in front of his business. On August 9, 2023, the North Charleston Clerk of Court scheduled a jury trial on one of the alleged nuisance charges, Citation No. 4102P0169386. (R.O.A. pages 1, 2 [citation]) After selecting a jury, the State made its opening argument. During defendant’s opening statement to the jury, the presiding judge, *sua sponte*, interrupted counsel, declared a mistrial, over the objection of the defense, and dismissed the jury. The Court asserted counsel made an improper statement to the jury by asserting the case was a criminal case, not a civil case, and the defendant faced criminal penalties if convicted. (This statement was in response to the prosecutor’s attempt to describe the case as a civil matter, a disagreement that continues.) Rather than re-try the case, the parties negotiated a resolution that allowed the appellant to plead *nolo contendere* to two charges, one for removing a City posted notice (Citation 29927) for which the Court ordered appellant to pay a \$50.00 fine, and the second (Citation 4102P0169386) to allowing a nuisance at his garage for which the Court imposed a 30-day suspended sentence and a \$1,097.00 fine, which appellant paid. The parties engaged in a lengthy colloquy with the Court on what was or was not allowed at 3042 North Carolina Avenue. This colloquy is in the Record on Appeal at pages 3-36. The Municipal Court never reduced its Order to writing.

As the colloquy demonstrates, the Court placed conditions on the suspended 30-day sentence (quoted below on page 13). The substance of the agreement was that the Court required appellant to keep “inoperable” motor vehicles inside the appellant’s garage.

On September 12, 2023, more than thirty (30) days after the August 9th imposition of the 30-day suspended sentence, the City of North Charleston filed a “motion for hearing” with the

Court asking for a hearing on whether appellant violated the terms of his suspended sentence: “Comes now the City Prosecutor for the City of North Charleston and moves this Honorable Court to conduct a hearing to determine if the defendant is in compliance with the Court’s Order, and states as follows . . .” (R.O.A. pg. 37) The September 12th Motion for Hearing contains no identification of alleged violations.

On October 5, 2023, the appellant filed a motion to dismiss and demand for jury trial, along with a Memorandum of Law, pointing out that the 30-day suspended sentence elapsed prior to the City filing its “motion for hearing.” The motion also pointed out that the appellant received insufficient notice of the allegations he was facing. R.O.A. page 40 [motion to dismiss] The parties appeared before the Municipal Court on October 6, 2023, at which time appellant renewed his several objections to the proceeding, including, but not limited to the fact that § 17-25-110, S. C. Code, ann. ended the Municipal Court’s jurisdiction over the appellant’s August 9, 2023, sentence.¹ Because the maximum sentence of incarceration a Municipal Court can impose under § 14-25-45, S. C. Code, ann. is thirty (30) days,² appellant cannot be required “to do service under such sentence beyond and after the expiration of such period,” which in the appellant’s case exceeded the jurisdictional limit of the Municipal Court’s thirty (30) days’ suspended sentence. The Municipal Court overruled all of appellant’s objections, took testimony from a Code Enforcement officer who testified he took photographs of two motor vehicles parked on appellant’s property, one of which had a flat tire and one which was missing a bumper. He testified he made no further inquiry as to whether either vehicle was “inoperable” because, neither vehicle met

¹ § 17-25-110 says: “When the sentence of any person who has been sentenced by a court of competent jurisdiction of this State shall be suspended by a judge of such court such suspension shall run for the period of time prescribed by such judge in the sentence or order of suspension and no person who has had a sentence so suspended shall be called back and required to do service under such sentence beyond and after the expiration of such period.”

² “The [Municipal] Court shall also have all such powers, duties, and jurisdiction in criminal cases made under state law and conferred upon magistrates.”

“federal highway safety standards.”³ The trial judge overruled all the appellant’s evidentiary objections and refused appellant’s motions to dismiss (“directed verdict of acquittal) prior to taking testimony, when the City rested, and again at the close of the evidence. Based on these photos and the Code Enforcement Officer’s opinion, the Municipal Court ordered appellant immediately taken into custody and confined to the Charleston County jail for thirty (30) days. The Municipal Court’s incarceration Order was an oral order and has never been reduced to writing. (The City contends the notation at the bottom of Citation 4102P0169386 is the Court’s written Order.)

Once law enforcement took the appellant into custody, counsel asked for an appeal bond, which the Municipal Court refused to consider until after appellant filed a Notice of Appeal. The appellant filed a notice of appeal on October 6, 2024 along with a request for an appeal bond. The Municipal Court granted appellant a personal recognizance appeal bond, and the Charleston County jail released the appellant later that same night. (As part of the *nolo contendere* plea on August 10, 2023, the appellant previously paid a \$1,097.00 fine.)

On October 6, 2023, appellant appealed to the oral order of incarceration to the circuit court and thereafter filed an amended notice of appeal on October 15, 2023. (R.O.A. pages 82 and 83). The parties appeared before the circuit court on September 9, 2024. On October 2, 2023, the circuit court affirmed the decision of the Municipal Court by written Order (R.O.A. page 107), and on October 7, 2024, appellant filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration. (R.O.A. page 116) The circuit court denied reconsideration on October 14, 2024. R.O.A. pg. 136) Appellant received written notice of the entry of the final order denying reconsideration on October 15, 2024, and on October 23, 2024, filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court.

Statement of Facts

³ The October 6th appearance before the Municipal Court is not transcribed, but there is an audio file.

Harold Simmons purchased 3042 North Carolina Avenue on June 15, 2000. The original “purchase” was a lease/purchase agreement that led to extended litigation in a dispute over whether appellant was or was not in breach of the lease/purchase agreement at Case Numbers 2010-CP-10-8027 and 2014-CP-10-1635. The Court resolved this dispute by confirming title in the name of the appellant through a Master’s Deed filed October 25, 2018 at Deed Book 0756 at Page 020. As the photos of the building demonstrate (R.O.A. pgs. 76-77), it is obviously a garage and has been a garage since originally constructed. The garage faces North Carolina Avenue, which is a state-owned road (S-1026) bordered by Spruill Avenue to the west and the former Charleston Navy Base to the East. The appellant and the City have been at odds as to whether the appellant’s location must be rezoned to commercial or whether it is a legal non-conforming use.⁴ As a result of this tension, the City issued numerous citations to the appellant alleging his garage is a nuisance as defined by § 9-67 of the North Charleston ordinances. This section says:

Sec. 9-67. - Nuisances declared.

Without limitation upon and in addition to any conditions which may constitute common nuisances under section 9-66, the following are declared to be unhealthy and unsightly conditions constituting public nuisances and endangering the life, health, safety, welfare and property of the entire community: conditions which afford a breeding place for and/or attract insects, rodents or reptiles or otherwise create a substantial risk of danger to health and/or safety through disease, fire, safety hazards or other means, including, but not limited to:

. . .

(4) (a)

Trucks, cars, trailers, boats, and similar items that (i) fail to comply with state or federal safety regulations or are incapable of self-propulsion (if the item in question is normally self-propelled), or are dismantled; and (ii) which are left in such state or condition for more than seventy-two (72) hours.

(b) Excepted from this subsection 9-67(4) declaration of nuisance, however, are:

(i) Such items when retained for purposes of repair or towing storage on the premises of a properly zoned repair or towing facility; provided that for any such vehicle retained

⁴ Parts of North Carolina Avenue are zoned residential; parts are zoned commercial. There is a second garage on the corner of North Carolina Avenue and Dayton Street.

more than ninety (90) days, the towing or repair facility must be able to document reasonable efforts that have been made to repair to return the vehicle and demonstrate reasonable cause for why repair or return has not been completed. Examples of reasonable cause for why repair or return has not been completed would include, but not be limited to, time statutorily required for compliance with state laws or back order time associated with parts required for repair.

(ii) City licensed restoration vehicles that comply with all requirements of chapter 10.5, article VII of the Code of Ordinances for the City of North Charleston.

Standard of Review

The standard on review from a municipal court in this case is not clear because both the Court and the City refused to answer the appellant's inquiry as to whether he was facing a Rule-to-Show-Cause for alleged contempt of court or a criminal matter of sentencing. Municipal Courts have no civil jurisdiction under § 14-25-45, S. C. Code, ann., but every court has the inherent power to punish for willful disobedience of its Orders. *Ex Parte: Mamie L. Jackson, In Re: City of Columbia, v. Mamie L. Jackson*, 381 S.C. 253, 672 S.E.2d 585 (Ct. App. 2009) (*Ex Parte: Jackson* is also instructive because there, the City of Columbia filed an injunction action in common pleas to enjoin the defendant from accumulating trash on her property. When the City brought a Rule-to-Show-Cause for contempt, the circuit court sentenced her to 90 days, which was reversed on appeal on a right-to-counsel analysis. It is significant that the City of Columbia went about it the right way instead of taking North Charleston's shortcut of invoking criminal prosecution of what is clearly a civil dispute.) The City's September 12, 2023 "motion for hearing" is not specific. In appeals from the Municipal and Magistrate's Court in criminal cases, the parameters for the standard of review are set but not precisely defined other than to say that there is no new testimony taken. See § 14-25-95 and § 18-3-70, S. C. Code, ann., which authorize the appellate court to "confirm the sentence appealed from, reverse, or modify it, or grant a new trial, as to the court may seem meet and conformable to law." See *State v. Gordon*, 414 S.C. 94, 777 S.E.2d 376 (2014):

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Thus, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*

"The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature." *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). "When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning." *Id.* In interpreting a statute, "[w]ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation." *Id.* at 499, 640 S.E.2d at 459.

State v. Gordon, 777 S.E.2d 376, 378 (S.C. 2015) (question whether Highway Patrolman's failure to video suspect's head during administration of nystagmus test required dismissal)

The circuit court relied on *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 341, 713 S.E.2d 278, 282 (2011) for the proposition that appellate courts' reviews of municipal court convictions are limited to correction of errors of law raised by proper exceptions. As the Supreme Court said in *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*:

"In criminal appeals from a municipal court, the circuit court does not conduct a *de novo* review; rather, it reviews the case for preserved errors raised to it by an appropriate exception." *City of Cayce v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co.*, 391 S.C. 395, 399, 706 S.E.2d 6, 8 (2011). See S. C. Code § 14-24-105 (Supp. 2010) ("There shall be no trial *de novo* on any appeal from a municipal court."). "Therefore, our scope of review is limited to correcting the circuit court's order for errors of law." *Suchenski* 374 S.C. at 15, 646 S.E.2d at 880.

Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 341 (S.C. 2011)

Appellate practice moves in surprising ways because while the circuit court correctly identified *Town of Mt. Pleasant* for the appellate standard of review on appeals from Municipal Court, there is a surplus of irony that the Supreme Court affirmed the dismissal of a D.U.I. prosecution because the Town of Mt. Pleasant demonstrated bad faith by intentionally neglecting to install video cameras in its police vehicles to subvert the requirement that D.U.I. arrest evidence be preserved. This same municipal bad faith appears here, especially as discussed in Argument 4 below when the appellant stumbled upon undisclosed bad conduct. The point is: while appellate review of Municipal criminal convictions is limited to the record below, reviewing courts are empowered to address governmental misconduct.

By analogy, § 18-7-130, S. C. Code, ann., governs appeals from Magistrate's Court's civil cases, which is relevant here because even though Municipal Courts do not possess civil jurisdiction, the October 6, 2023 appearance before the Court was no different from a Rule-to-Show-Cause since the pleading summoning appellant to court did not reveal the alleged violation. In those cases: "The appeal shall be heard by the court upon all the papers in the case, including the testimony on the trial, which shall be taken down in writing and signed by the witnesses, and the grounds of exceptions made, without the examination of witnesses in court." On several occasions, appellant inquired of the City and the Court as to whether it considers this case a criminal or a civil contempt brought by a Rule-to-Show-Cause, but to date, North Charleston refuses to commit. The City's original September 12, 2023 "motion for hearing" is not clear. (R.O.A. page 37) When the parties appeared before the Municipal Court, appellant's counsel once again asked for clarification as to whether the parties were before the Court on a Rule-To-Show-Cause seeking a finding of contempt of court or whether the parties were before the Court on a criminal process of revoking the appellant's suspended sentence. Even though Municipal Courts do not have civil jurisdiction pursuant to § 14-25-45, S. C. Code, ann., they can punish for contempt, and based on the City's "motion for hearing," appellant operated on the assumption that this appeal is from a finding of contempt of court brought before the Court on a Rule-to-Show-Cause. The absence of a written Order leaves both the parties and the Court to grope in the dark as to the nature of the hearing below. If the case is a civil case of contempt of court, then the City's burden of proof on holding the defendant/appellant in contempt is "clear and convincing." If it is a criminal case, then the City's burden of proof is "beyond a reasonable doubt." Either standard requires more than a "**suggestion**" that the evidence supports a willful disobedience of a court Order and yet, this is the standard of review erroneously applied by both courts below. See

Municipal Court’s Return and circuit court’s Order under review at page 6, R.O.A. page 89, quoted below on page 11.

Arguments

Argument 1: Pursuant to § 17-25-110, the Municipal Court lost jurisdiction over the appellant at the expiration of the maximum 30-day suspended sentence that the Municipal Court could impose.

Before, during, and following the Court’s October 2nd oral Order sending appellant to jail for thirty days, counsel inquired of the City to define its legal position to disclose whether the appellant faced an application for contempt of court or the imposition of a criminal sentence. In the runup to this appeal, appellant again requested clarification, a reasonable inquiry, which is necessary for counsel to calculate appellate deadlines. To date, the City has refused—and still refuses—to reply. Because a civil (contempt of court) and a criminal case (imposition of sentence) each has a different timetable for any defendant/appellant to decide whether to accept the pronouncement of the Court or pursue judicial review, it is a reasonable question, and the City has a duty to speak. See Rule 3.8, Special Responsibilities of a Prosecutor, *S. C Rules of Appellate Procedure*. It should be a routine disclosure, but the Municipal Court’s failure to provide a written Order combined with the City’s refusal to commit leaves both the appellant and this Court to grope in the dark as to whether this is an appeal from an oral finding appellant in contempt of Court or whether this is an appeal from an oral Order imposing a 30-day criminal sentence.

The City contends (apparently) the issue before the Court is an appeal from the imposition of a 30-day sentence of incarceration in a criminal case, by the time the City issued its September 12, 2024 “request for hearing,” the Municipal Court’s criminal jurisdiction over appellant had ended because the maximum incarceration a Municipal Court can order is thirty (30) days, and §17-25-110 prevents a court from hauling a criminal defendant back into court when the maximum

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