RECEIVED

Jun 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from the Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001803

Harold Simmons, Appellant,

v.

City of North Charleston, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

David J. Parrish
Maynard Nexsen, PC
205 King Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 20401
843-720-1771
dparish@maynardnexsen.com
Attorney for City of North Charleston

Kriston D. Neely
City of North Charleston
PO Box 190016
North Charleston, SC 29419
843-740-2553
kneely@northcharleston.org
Attorney for City of North Charleston

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The circuit court properly affirmed the municipal court’s decision that Appellant violated the conditions of his conditional suspended sentence, resulting in imposition of the suspended thirty-day jail sentence.

All of the various arguments in Appellant’s Brief fall under the following four categories of issues on appeal: (1) the municipal court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hold the October 6, 2023 hearing on his failure to comply with the conditions of his suspended sentence; (2) the City failed to provide due process to Appellant by failing to inform him of the issues and consequences he was facing at the October 6, 2023 hearing; (3) lack of sufficiency of evidence to support the municipal court’s decision that Appellant had not complied with the conditions of his suspended sentence; and (4) a claim based “newly discovered evidence.” Each of these issues are addressed in turn below.⁴

A. Jurisdiction claim (Appellant’s Argument 1)

Appellant argues the municipal court lost jurisdiction over him at the expiration of his thirty-day conditional suspended sentence. (Appellant’s Brief p. 10). On August 9, 2023, the municipal court sentenced Appellant to thirty days imprisonment, suspended upon the condition that he cure his violations of the nuisance ordinance. Therefore, according to Appellant, the municipal court’s jurisdiction over him expired on September 9, 2023, thirty days after the day of his original suspended thirty-day sentence on August 9, 2023. The municipal court and circuit court properly rejected that argument.

⁴ In this Brief, the City is attempting to address the issues in a more concise manner, rather than attempting to provide a point-by-point counter to each of the numerous, and often overlapping, assertions contained in Appellant’s Brief. To the extent this Brief does not specifically or directly respond to a particular assertion in Appellant’s Brief, it is not intended to indicate acquiescence or agreement with the assertion.

In support of his argument, Appellant mistakenly relies on S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-110, which states:

When the sentence of any person who has been sentenced by a court of competent jurisdiction of this State shall be suspended by a judge of such court such suspension shall run for the period of time prescribed by such judge in the sentence or order of suspension and no person who has had a sentence so suspended shall be called back and required to do service under such sentence beyond and after the expiration of such period.

“A municipal judge possesses the power to ‘suspend sentences imposed by him upon such terms and conditions as he deems proper, including, without limitation, restitution or public service employment.’” *City of N. Charleston v. Harper*, 306 S.C. 153, 157, 410 S.E.2d 569, 571 (1991) (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 14–25–75). If a municipal judge finds a party guilty of violating a municipal ordinance, the judge may impose fines or imprisonment, or both, not exceeding \$500 or thirty days imprisonment. S.C. Code Ann. § 14–25–65. “These statutes allow municipal judges a great degree of discretion to impose appropriate punishment and to suspend sentences. *Harper*, 306 S.C. at 157, 410 S.E.2d at 571.

Research has not revealed a South Carolina case construing Section 17-25-110, but a 2002 South Carolina Attorney General Opinion analyzed whether that statute prescribes a maximum time limit for which the conditions of a suspended sentence can be imposed. S.C. Atty. Gen. Op. dated October 8, 2002 (2002 WL 31728847). (R. p. 164). The Opinion notes the great degree of statutory discretion municipal judges have to impose conditions on suspended sentences and observes that Section 17-25-110 “prescribes . . . no limitation on the length of time the period of suspension may run.” WL 31728847 at *1. (R. p. 165). The Opinion concludes that, “Generally, a municipal court judge's authority to impose conditions on suspended sentences is not subject to a maximum time limitation. Public policy as established by the Constitution, statutes and case law may, however, provide such constraints. Public policy violations would have to be determined on a case-by-case

basis.” *Id.* at *3. The Opinion is well reasoned, persuasive, and should be applied to the facts of this case.

Here, on August 9, 2023, the municipal court judge imposed a thirty-day suspended sentence conditioned on Appellant’s compliance with specific terms; namely, removal of inoperable or dismantled vehicles that he was storing on his property and streets. Contrary to his argument, Appellant was not called back into court on October 6, 2023, and required to do service under such sentence beyond and after the expiration of the suspended sentence as contemplated in Section 17-25-110. Instead, Appellant was called back to address his failure to comply with the conditions of his suspended sentence by failing to remove his inoperable and dismantled vehicles (or provide documentation of pending repairs) as ordered by the municipal court at the August 9, 2023 plea hearing.

At the October 6, 2023 hearing, the municipal court revoked Appellant’s suspended sentence because he failed to meet the conditions set forth during his sentencing at the August 9, 2023 hearing. Section 17-25-110 does not apply to limit the municipal court’s continued jurisdiction to ensure that Appellant complied with the conditions of his suspended sentence.

The municipal court and circuit court both properly concluded that the municipal court retained subject matter jurisdiction over Appellant to enforce the conditions of his no contest plea agreement at the August 9, 2023 hearing.

B. Due process claim (Appellant’s Argument 2)

Appellant next argues lack of due process because “he never received notice of how he was in violation of the municipal court’s Oral order or why he was being hauled back into court.” (Appellant’s Final Brief p. 12).

As reflected in the transcript of the no contest plea agreement at the August 9, 2023 hearing, the municipal court judge engaged in an extended colloquy with Appellant and his counsel to ensure that Appellant was freely and voluntarily entering the plea and understood the conditions of his suspended sentence and what he needed to do to avoid having to serve the jail sentence, including the need for him to provide repair parts orders or other documentation for any vehicles for which he was claiming the “pending repair” exception in Section 9-67(4)(b)(1). (R. p. 24, line 14-p. 34, line 22).

Following Appellant’s subsequent failure to comply, on September 8, 2023, the City filed a “Motion for Hearing” to determine if Appellant had complied with the conditions of his Court-ordered suspended sentence. (R. p. 38). The hearing on that motion was held on October 6, 2023. (R. p. 96). Appellant attended the hearing with his counsel, had an opportunity to cross-examine witnesses and present evidence, and he testified in his own defense. (R. p.97). At the conclusion of the hearing, the municipal court revoked Appellant’s suspended sentence based on his failure to comply with the conditions of his suspended sentence. Appellant now claims lack of due process because the City did not provide him notice that at the October 6, 2023 hearing he faced thirty days in jail based on his no contest plea agreement that he entered into on August 9, 2023.

As properly observed by the circuit court in denying Appellant’s appeal of the municipal court’s October 6, 2023 decision revoking Appellant’s suspended sentence:

The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. S.C. Const. art. 1, § 22; *Stono River Envtl. Protection Ass'n v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control*, 305 S.C. 90, 94, 406 S.E.2d 340, 342 (1991). Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Wilson*, 352 S.C. 445, 452, 574 S.E.2d 730, 733 (2002); *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972). In accordance, the South Carolina Supreme Court determined that the requirements in a particular case depend on the importance of the interest involved and the circumstances under which the deprivation may occur. *State v. Binnarr*, 400 S.C. 156, 733 S.E.2d 890 (2012)

(citing *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Beeks*, 325 S.C. 243, 246, 481 S.E.2d 703, 705 (1997)). (R. pp. 109-110).

Here, Appellant contends that he was denied due process because he was not provided with sufficient notice of the allegations and that he faced incarceration at the October 6, 2023 hearing. However, the City's Motion for Hearing states the basis for the motion and concludes that "the City hereby moves for a hearing to determine if the defendant has complied with the court-ordered conditions and take appropriate action if necessary." (R p. 39). The record reflects that Appellant received notice of the hearing and attended the hearing with his counsel. (R. pp. 96-97). Both the record and Appellant's own account in his Brief in this appeal reflect that Appellant had the opportunity to present evidence, question witnesses, and argue his case at the hearing.

In short, at the August 9, 2023 plea hearing, the municipal court placed Appellant on clear notice of the potential ramifications of his failure to comply with the conditions of his no contest plea agreement. Appellant received due notice of the October 6, 2023 hearing, and he arrived at that hearing with his counsel and contested the City's position that he had failed to comply with the conditions of his suspended sentence. The municipal court judge rejected Appellant's position.

The municipal court and circuit court properly rejected Appellant's due process claim.

C. Sufficiency of the evidence (Appellant's Arguments 3 and 4)

Appellant's next argues that, at the hearing on October 6, 2023, the City failed to present sufficient evidence that Appellant did not conform to the Court's oral order of August 9, 2023. (Appellant's Final Brief pp. 15, 19). Specifically, Appellant contends that the City's evidence did not prove non-compliance with the nuisance ordinance or the terms of his suspended sentence.

As a threshold issue, Appellant's Brief is filled with verbal descriptions and embellishments of the testimony, evidence, and events occurring at the October 6, 2023 hearing, but Appellant failed to order a copy of the transcript from that hearing, so there is no record of that

proceeding in this appeal. As the appellant, Appellant has the burden of presenting this Court with an adequate record for review. *E.g., Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church*, 329 S.C. 433, 446–47, 494 S.E.2d 827, 834 (Ct. App. 1997) (citations omitted). Appellant failed to order a transcript of the proceeding as required under Rule 207(a), SCACR. Because Appellant did not provide adequate materials for this Court to consider this argument, this Court should affirm the municipal court’s findings.

Moreover, there is sufficient evidence in the record to support the municipal court’s finding that Appellant failed to comply with the conditions of his plea agreement. The municipal court judge, as the trial court, is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to their testimony. *See State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. at 140, 801 S.E.2d at 720. “In criminal appeals from a municipal court, the circuit court does not conduct a de novo review; rather, it reviews the case for preserved errors raised to it by an appropriate exception.” *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. at 341, 713 S.E.2d at 282; *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 14–25–105 (stating the appeal of a municipal court decision is based on the municipal court’s return and there shall be no trial de novo). “Therefore, [the appellate court’s] scope of review is limited to correcting the circuit court’s order for errors of law.” *Roberts*, 393 S.C. at 341, 713 S.E.2d at 282.

By Appellant’s own recount of the events as set forth in his Brief in this appeal, at the hearing on October 6, 2023, the City presented photographs taken of Appellant’s property after the thirty-day compliance period had passed. These images depicted vehicles in a state that suggested non-compliance with the municipal code, such as the vehicle with a flat tire or the vehicle missing a bumper. Additionally, witnesses, including a code enforcement officer, testified that based on their observations, Appellant had not brought the property into full compliance with Ordinance 9-67(4), as ordered at the August 9, 2023 plea hearing. In her Return, the municipal court judge specifically noted that she “considered highly the testimony of [Appellant], which he

acknowledged [sic] that flat tires on his vehicle was a violation of the city ordinance and several photographs demonstrated flat tires on the [Appellant's] property on August 10, 2023, September 5, 2023, and also on September 19, 2023.” (R. pp. 97-98).

While Appellant argues that minor defects, such as a flat tire, do not render a vehicle "inoperable" under the terms of Ordinance 9-67(4), the municipal court found that these conditions, along with the other evidence and testimony (including Appellant's own testimony) at the October 6, 2023 hearing, reflected that Appellant had failed to comply with the safety and nuisance standards defined by Ordinance 9-67(4). The Ordinance's language is broad, encompassing any condition that creates a risk to health or safety, and is not limited solely to vehicles that are entirely incapable of operation, and includes dismantled vehicles.

At the August 9, 2023 hearing, the municipal court was clear that compliance with the Ordinance required that all vehicles on the property be in safe, operable condition. Therefore, even relatively minor issues, like flat tires or missing bumpers, can reasonably be interpreted as rendering the vehicles inoperable, dismantled, unsafe, or unfit for operation.

The municipal court's role at the October 6, 2023 hearing was to determine whether the vehicles on Appellant's property posed a violation of the nuisance Ordinance in violation of the conditions of his no contest plea agreement. In finding that Appellant failed to comply with the conditions of his suspended sentence, the municipal court judge reasonably relied on the photographic and testimonial evidence provided by the City, and the judge heavily relied on Appellant's own testimony.

On appeal of the municipal court's finding of noncompliance, the circuit court properly concluded that, given the broad discretion afforded to trial courts in interpreting factual matters, and considering the Ordinance's intent to prevent unsightly and potentially hazardous conditions,

the municipal court's finding that the vehicles were not in compliance with the Ordinance was within the municipal court's discretion. (R. pp. 107, 113).

In short, there is sufficient evidence in the record to support the municipal court's finding that Appellant failed to comply with the conditions of his plea agreement, and this Court should not conduct a de novo review and disturb that finding on appeal.

D. Newly discovered evidence (Appellant's Argument 5)

The remainder of Appellant's Brief is devoted to a discussion of "newly discovered evidence" constituting an "illegal action" filed by the City's housing authority in 2021. (Appellant's Final Brief p. 23). Appellant is referring to the Summons and Complaint filed in the trial court case captioned *City of North Charleston v. Harold Simmons*, Case No. 2021CP10002563, filed in the Charleston County of Common Pleas on June 3, 2021. (R. p.126).

Although Appellant claims that housing authority case was newly discovered by Appellant's counsel after the hearing on Appellant's appeal before the circuit court on August 19, 2024, that housing case is specifically referenced at the top right corner of the first page of the transcript from Appellant's plea hearing before the municipal court judge on August 9, 2023. (R. p. 3). During that August 9, 2023 plea hearing, that housing case was specifically referenced as being one of the charges being dismissed as part of Appellant's negotiated no contest plea agreement. (R. p. 11, lines 22-24).

Moreover, Appellant raised this issue for the first time via a motion to reconsider filed after the circuit court judge had held a hearing and issued an order denying Appellant's appeal of the municipal court's imposition of the thirty-day sentence. (R. pp. 116, 121). The circuit court's order denying Appellant's motion to reconsider properly rejected Appellant's after-the-fact attempt to raise this issue as being untimely presented. (R. pp. 136-137).

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